

Intelli-Site Security Management Software

Accutech Panel Guide

For Windows 7 Professional and Ultimate, Windows 8.1 Pro and Enterprise, Windows 10 Pro and Enterprise, Server 2008 R2, and Server 2012 R2

Copyright

Copyright © 2016-2018 OSSI, LLC All rights reserved.

Information in this document is subject to change without notice. The software described in this document is furnished under a license agreement or nondisclosure agreement. The software may be used or copied only in accordance with the terms of those agreements. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording for any purpose other than the purchaser's use without the written permission of OSSI.

OSSI, LLC 10125 S 52nd St. Franklin, WI 53132-8677 <u>ossi-usa.com</u>

Telephone: (262) 522-1870 Toll Free: (888) 488-2623 Fax: (262) 522-1872

Trademarks

Intelli-Site[®] is registered in U.S. Patent & Trademark Office.

All other registered and unregistered trademarks are the sole property of their respective owners.

Technical Support Assistance

OSSI, LLC Headquarters

OSSI, LLC 10125 S 52nd St. Franklin, WI 53132-8677 262-522-1870 888-488-2623

Technical Support

Technical support is available via Telephone or Email. Contact Intelli-Site Technical Support 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM Central Standard time. If calling after hours, please leave a detailed voice mail message, and someone will return your call as soon as possible.

Email:support@ossi-usa.comPhone:888-488-2623

When calling, please be at the computer prepared to provide the following information:

- Product version number, found by selecting the **About** button from the Intelli-Site Application Menu.
- Product License and SMA numbers used for registration.
- The type of computer being used including, operating system, processor type, speed, amount of memory, type of display, etc.
- Exact wording of any messages that appear on the screen.
- What was occurring when the problem was detected?
- What steps have been taken to reproduce the problem?
- It is highly recommended that the user execute a System Information Report and export that report to Adobe .pdf format for transmission to Intelli-Site technical support staff.

Table of Contents

Copyright3
Trademarks3
Technical Support Assistance4
Table of Contents5
1 Introduction7
2 Installation8
3 🔀 Hardware Management View9
3.1 Setup9
3.1.1 Add an Accutech Driver9
3.1.2 Add a Communications Method12
3.1.3 Add an Accutech Panel14
3.1.4 Configure the Accutech Panel15
3.1.5 Enable the Accutech Driver16
3.2 Panel Control Screen17
4 Design View
4.1 Accutech Driver Node18
4.2 Communication Method Node20
4.3 Accutech Panel Node22
4.3.1 Accutech Panel Node Properties22
4.3.2 Accutech Panel Quick Config24
4.3.3 Accutech Panel Child Nodes25

4.4 Using the Accutech Nodes	28
4.4.1 The Accutech Panel Node	28
4.4.2 The Zone Node	28
4.4.3 The Child I/O Point Nodes	28
4.5 Automatically Created Screen Objects	29
4.5.1 Standard Zone Screen Object	29
4.5.2 Exit Zone Screen Object	33
4.6 Panel Control Screen	44
Revision History	46

1 Introduction

Intelli-Site supports the Accutech IS and Accutech LS panels.

The behavior and interaction of the Accutech IS and Accutech LS panels with Intelli-Site are virtually identical. Instructions for the Accutech IS panels are identical to the instructions for the Accutech LS panels. Therefore, this guide simply states Accutech to infer either panel type. When a statement pertains to a specific Accutech panel type, that panel type is specifically named.

2 Installation

The Accutech drivers in Intelli-Site must be installed. No external software is needed.

If Intelli-Site has been installed without the Accutech drivers, run the Intelli-Site installer again and select **Modify**.

During the Intelli-Site installation or modify installation process, you are presented with the **Select the drivers you want to install** window.

Intelli-Site - InstallShield Wizard	×
Select the drivers you want to install.	
Select the drivers you want to install, and deselect the drivers you do not want to install.	
 Accutech Driver Aiphone-IX Driver Compass Driver HikVision Driver MAC Driver Milestone Driver Digital Watchdog Driver ExacqVision Driver Onvif Driver 	~
InstallShield	
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cance	1

Figure 1 - Select the drivers you want to install

Ensure the **Accutech Drivers** option is checked then continue with the installation or modification.

3 Hardware Management View

The Accutech Driver and Accutech panel are best configured in **Hardware Management View**. Once configured, the panels can be easily monitored and controlled using their panel control screens.

3.1 Setup

The Accutech Driver and Accutech panel are best configured in **Hardware Management View**. Before we begin though, it is a good idea to have the IP address of the network adapter as well as the panel addresses of each of the panels to which it communicates written down.

Once the above information is obtained, the setup process is straight forward.

- 1. Add an Accutech Driver
- 2. Add a Communication Method to the driver
- 3. Add an Accutech Panel
- 4. Configure the Accutech Panel
- 5. Enable the Accutech Driver

3.1.1 Add an Accutech Driver

Adding an Accutech Driver is simple, but important. Without it, no communication with the Accutech IS or LS panels can occur.

Launch the Desktop Client and login.

Hardware is managed in the **Hardware Management View**. If you are not in **Hardware Management View** (Figure 2), click on Menu - and select \mathbb{K} .

Site: Corporate Headquarters v Area: Area v Add Driver	Intelli-Sit	e 4 - Public Sch	hool System								-	Ø	×
Ack Ack Al Ack Ack Al Cear Cear Al Cear Cear Al	Sito	Corporate	Headquarters	×	Area	Δτορ	×						
Ack Ack Al Am Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear Al	one.	corporate	rieauquaiteis	*	Alea.	Aica	•		Add Differ				
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Cear Cear Al Cear Count Card No. Acked Dy Time Count Card No. Acked Dy Cueue Control L L L L L L L													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear Al Cueve Corriol >													
Ack Alem Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Ceer Cear Al > Ceer Cear Al > > Ceer Cear Al > > >													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Ceer Clear Al													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Court Card No. Acked By Clear Clear Al													
Ack Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All > Cueue Control > Cueue Control > > >													
Ack Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Cand No. Acked By Clear Clear All > Cueue Control > > Line Line Line Line Line > >													
Ack Ack All Am Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All Count Card No. Acked By > > Clear Control V													
Ack Ack All Am Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All Count Card No. Acked Time > > Clear Control Count Card No. Acked Time > >													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear All > Queue Control > >													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Al Clear Al Clear Al Clear Al Status Status <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Al Clear Clear Al Cle													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear All Clear All Count Card No. Acked By Queue Control V V V V V													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All Queue Control > >													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All > Queue Control > >													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All													
Ack Alam Description Status Priority Date Time Count Card No. Acked By Clear Clear All > Queue Control > >													
Ack Ack All Clear Clear All						Charles	December 1	Data	Tere	Count	Card No.	Asland	
Clear Clear All	Ack	Ack All	Alarm Description			SIGTOS	Frionty	Date	rime	Count	Caro No.	Acked	у
Clear Al Cle													
Queue Control	Clear	Clear All											
Queue Control			<										>
	Queue C	Control											

Figure 2 - Hardware Management View

To add the Accutech driver, click Add Driver. The Choose Driver Type dialog displays.

🔹 Choose Driver Ty	pe	×					
Note: A driver is not s in all areas until a par display only in the are	Note: A driver is not specific to an area, panels are. It will appear in all areas until a panel has been added to it. The driver will then display only in the area to which its panels belong.						
Driver Type:	Accutech IS	~					
	ОК	Cancel					

Figure 3 - Choose Driver Type Dialog

Select either Accutech IS or Accutech LS from the **Driver Type** drop-down menu in the **Choose Driver Type** dialog. If the panels are Accutech IS panels, choose Acchutech IS. Accutech LS is for Accutech LS panels. Click OK A new Accutech driver icon is added to the screen and its properties dialog opens.

🏪 [1053] New Accutech IS Driver	×
Properties	
Name: New Accutech IS Driver	ID: 1053
User Level: All Access	~
Notes:	
Enabled:	
	Send Queue
Default Retry Start Delay: 🗹	Retries: 3
Retry Start Delay: 15	Timeout: 1000 🚔
	Interval: 250 🌻
Panel List:	Computer List: [4] QAWin10
	OK Cancel

Figure 4 - Accutech Driver Properties Dialog

Please change the name of the driver to reflect the use and/or location of the panels that this driver will manage.

Note:	For an explanation of all of the driver properties, see
	Accutech Driver Node.



Figure 5 - Accutech Driver Icon

Notice the warning icon, ⁽¹⁾. This appears when the driver needs a communication method. So, let's add one.

3.1.2 Add a Communications Method

Each Accutech driver type must have a communication method defined and configured. Without one, the Intelli-Site Driver Service does not know where or how to communicate with the panel.

The communication method is added using the right-click context menu on the driver. Right-click on the driver icon and hover over *Comm Method*. The side menu opens. At this time it only has one option, *Add Comm Method*. Select it. The **Choose Communication Method Type** dialog appears.



Figure 6 - The Choose Communication Method Type dialog

There is only one communication method for the Accutech drivers and that is TCP/IP. Click OK . A new TCP/IP communication method node is added to the driver and its properties dialog opens.

🐏 [1054] New 1	CP/IP Comm Method	×
Properties		
Name:	New TCP/IP Comm Method	ID: 1054
User Level:	All Access ~	
Notes:		
Address:		
Port:	60504	
TCP:		
	C	KCancel

Figure 7 - The TCP/IP Communication Method properties dialog

Note: For a full explanation of all of the fields on this dialog, please read <u>Communication Method Node</u>.

This is where the IP address of the network interface goes. Enter it in the **Address** field. The **Port** number is the default port number for the network interface. If for some reason, the network interface is set up at a different port, enter the new port here as well. Please change the name and click OK.



Figure 8 - The driver icon with a communication method

Notice the warning icon is no longer on the front of the driver icon.

It's now time to add a panel to the driver.

3.1.3 Add an Accutech Panel

Once an Accutech driver has been added, it's time to add an Accutech panel to it.

Right-click on the Accutech Driver and select *Add Panel*. The **Add Panel** dialog displays.

Add Panel		
Accutech Accutech IS Mux		
#to Add: 1 ≑	OK Cance	4

Figure 9 - Add Panel Dialog

This dialog only displays the panels that are appropriate for the target driver. In this case, the target driver is an **Accutech IS** driver; therefore, only **Accutech IS Mux** is a valid panel type. If the target was an **Accutech LS** driver, then the valid panel type would be **Accutech LS PHD**. Select the appropriate Accutech panel. Change the value of **# to Add** to the number of panels this driver will control. Additional panels can be added later. Click OK A New Accutech IS or New Accutech LS icon is added to the target Accutech driver.



Figure 10 - A new Accutech panel attached to an Accutech driver

Copyright © 2016-2018 OSSI, LLC

Next comes configuring the panel(s).

3.1.4 Configure the Accutech Panel

The Accutech panel is configured using the **Quick Config** dialog. To open the **Quick Config** dialog, right-click on the Accutech icon and select *Quick Config*.

Configure New Accutech IS Mux				
Panel Name: New A	Accutech IS Mux			
Address: 1	Virtual:			
Zones:				
Name		Exit Zone		
Zone 1				
Zone 2				
Zone 3				
Zone 4				
Zone 5				
Zone 6				
Zone 7				
Zone 8				
	ОК	Cancel		

Figure 11 – Accutech IS Panel Quick Config Dialog

Change the **Panel Name** to describe its use or location. In our example, it is the access control panel for Wing A.

Set the **Address** to the panel address of the Accutech panel.

Give each zone a name that corresponds to its location and usage. If applicable, check the **Exit Zone** checkbox. Then click

Note: The Accutech LS has 30 Zones. Each zone that is used should be named appropriately. For more information on all of the fields and properties of an Accutech panel, see <u>Accutech Panel Node</u>.

3.1.5 Enable the Accutech Driver

At this point, the Accutech panel and the Accutech driver are configured, but the driver is not online. A quick way to know this is that the communication indicator is grey.



Figure 12 – Disabled Accutech Driver

Right-click on the driver to open the context menu; select *Enable Driver*. The communications indicator will change color to green when it's online.



Figure 13 - Enabled Accutech Driver

If for some reason the Engine cannot connect to the Driver Service or the Driver cannot connect to the Accutech, the communication indicator will be red.



Figure 14 - Enabled Accutech Driver that is not communicating with the Driver Service



Figure 15 - Enabled Accutech Driver that is communicating with the Driver Service but NOT the panel

Congratulations! The Accutech is integrated and ready to use in screen design for **Live View**. Screen design occurs in **Design View**.

3.2 Panel Control Screen

Every Accutech panel has a **Panel Control Screen**. From this screen, the user can monitor the current state of the panel and all of its zones and alarms.

Clicking on the panel icon opens the **Panel Control Screen** of the target panel. The content of the screen is dictated by the panel. Obviously, Accutech IS panels have eight (8) zones and Accutech LS panels have thirty (30).

New Accutech IS	Mux		×	<
	L STATUS Pane	Control Screen	PANEL STATUS VIRTUAL	
z	ones		Alarms	
Zone 1			Comm Lost	
Zone 2				
Zone 3				
Zone 4				
Zone 5				
Zone 6				
Zone 7				
Zone 8				

Figure 16 - Sample Accutech IS Mux Panel Control Screen

4 Design View

Design View is the home of the Project Node Tree and the place where screens and screen objects are programmed. The following sections explain the Accutech Driver node properties, the Accutech node properties, and screen object programming especially the automatically created screen objects.

4.1 Accutech Driver Node

The Accutech driver node is found by expanding **Setup->Computer Setup->Drivers**.



Figure 17 - Accutech Driver node in the Project Node Tree

Right-click on the Accutech driver node and select *Properties* to open the properties dialog.

堶 [1053] Wing A Accutech IS Driver	×
Properties	
Name: Wing A Accutech IS Driver ID: 1053	*
User Level: All Access 🗸	
Notes:	
Send Queue	
Default Retry Start Delay: 🗹 Retries: 3	
Retry Start Delay: 15 🖨 Timeout: 1000 🖨	
Interval: 250 💂	
Danel Liety [1055] Wing A Accutech IS Computer Liety [14] OAWin10	
Computer List.	
OK Ca	ncel

Figure 18 - Accutech Driver properties dialog

Name – edit box; the name for the node; the name doesn't have to be unique

ID – numeric (disabled); the unique identifier of this node; generated by Intelli-Site

User Level – drop-down menu (default: All Access); the User Level a user must possess to open the properties for this node

Notes – multiline edit box; any notes the user may have for the node

Enabled – check box; when checked the driver is enabled

Default Retry Start Delay – check box (default: checked); if the driver did not connect, pause before attempting to connect again

Retry Start Delay – numeric (default: 15); number of seconds to wait between retries on connection attempts

Retries – numeric (default: 3); number of retries for sending a packet

Timeout – numeric (default: 1000); number of milliseconds to wait for a response before assuming the packet was not received

Interval – numeric (default: 25); number of milliseconds to wait after a timeout before sending the packet again

Panel List- drop box; the Accutech nodes attached to this driver

Computer List – drop box (default: the computer on which the Engine is running); the computer node on which this driver is running

4.2 Communication Method Node

The communication method node is a child of the driver.





Right-click on the node and select *Properties* to open the properties dialog.

<table-of-contents> [1054] Accut</table-of-contents>	ech IS TCP/IP Comm Method	×
Properties		
Name:	Accutech IS TCP/IP Comm Method	ID: 1054
User Level:	All Access ~	
Notes:		
Address:	127.0.0.1	
Port:	60504	
TCP:	\square	
	0	Cancel

Figure 20 - Communication Method node properties dialog

Name – edit box; the name for the node; the name doesn't have to be unique

ID – numeric (disabled); the unique identifier of this node; generated by Intelli-Site

User Level – drop-down menu (default: All Access); the User Level a user must possess to open the properties for this node

Notes – multiline edit box; any notes the user may have for the node

Address – edit box; the IP address of the panel

Port – numeric (default: 60504); the TCP or UDP port number

TCP- checkbox (default: checked); when checked, the driver will communicate with the panel using TCP; when not checked, the driver assumes UDP is the desired communication protocol

4.3 Accutech Panel Node

The Accutech panel node is found by expanding **System Layout** then the Site and Area to which the Accutech panel was added in **Hardware Management View**. In the example below, the panel was added to the site **Corporate Headquarters** and the area **Area**.



Figure 21 - The Accutech panel node in the Project Node Tree

The Accutech panel node is the root node for the panel. The following sections will explain:

- The properties of the Accutech panel node
- The configuration of the Accutech panel (a.k.a. **Quick Config**)
- The child nodes of the Accutech panel

4.3.1 Accutech Panel Node Properties

Right-click on the Accutech panel node to open the properties. These fields are not accessible through the **Quick Dialog** dialog except for **Name**, **Address**, and **Virtual**. They correspond to those features that aren't part of the day to day running of the system.

🥾 [1055] Wing	A Accutech IS Mux		×
Properties			
Name:	Wing A Accutech IS Mux	ID:	1055 🌲
User Level:	All Access ~		
Notes:			
Address:	1		
Virtual:			
Vir	tual Point:		
Event buffer d	elta (min): 0		
	Apply	Ж	Cancel

Figure 22 - Accutech node properties dialog

Name – edit box; the name for the node; the name doesn't have to be unique

ID – numeric (disabled); the unique identifier of this node; generated by Intelli-Site

User Level – drop-down menu (default: All Access); the User Level a user must possess to open the properties for this node

Notes – multiline edit box; any notes the user may have for the node

Address – numeric; the address of the Accutech

Virtual – check box; when checked the panel is virtualized, allowing the driver to be brought online without having the physical panel available

Virtual Point – drop box; this I/O Point will be set when the panel is virtualized, clear when it is not

Event buffer delta (min) – numeric (default: 0); only applies to panels that buffer data; the Engine compares the time an event occurs versus the current time, if the difference is greater than the **Event buffer delta**, the event is logged but not acted upon

4.3.2 Accutech Panel Quick Config

The **Quick Config** dialog is accessible either in **Hardware Management View** or in **Design View**. To open the **Quick Config** dialog, right-click on the Accutech panel node and select *Quick Config*.

Configure Wing A Accutech IS Mux				
Panel Name: Wing A Accutech IS Mux				
Address:	1	1 📮 Virtual: 🗌		
Zones:				
Name			Exit Zone	
Neo Natal Unit				
Visitor Center				
Nurses' Station				
Wing B				
Lobby				
Elevators 🗹				
Wing C				
Stair Well				
		ОК	Cancel	

Figure 23 - Accutech panel Quick Config dialog

Panel Name – edit box; the name of the Accutech panel; updating this field will change the name of the node

Address – numeric; the address of the Accutech panel

Virtual – check box; when checked the panel is virtualized, allowing the driver to be brought online without having the physical panel available

Zone # **Name** – edit box; the name for each zone controlled by this Accutech panel; Accutech IS can control up to 8 zones; Accutech LS can control up to 30 zones

Exit Zone – checkbox; check if this zone is an exit zone

4.3.3 Accutech Panel Child Nodes

Accutech is a panel that controls egress from zones. In addition, it reports the current state of each zone it controls.



Figure 24 - Accutech panel child nodes

Every Accutech panel has a **Zones** child node and an **Alarms** child node. The **Zones** child node contains the zone points. The **Alarms** node contains the alarm points for the panel.

4.3.3.1 Zone Nodes

Under the **Zones** node are the individual zone nodes. Each zone node is an I/O point with a couple extra fields on the main tab. Because they are I/O points, they are high when the zone is active and low when it is not. In addition, each zone node has child nodes that are the possible sub-states for the zone.

4.3.3.1.1 Zone Node Properties

Each zone node is an I/O point with a couple extra fields on the main tab.

📲 [1287] New A	Accutech LS PHD\Zone 1	×
Properties Op	eration Alarm Queue Actions	
Name:	Zone 1 ID: 1287 🚖	
User Level:	All Access \checkmark	
Notes:		
Loiter Bypass:		
Exit Zone:		
	OK Car	ncel

Figure 25 - Zone Properties dialog

In addition to the standard fields, **Name**, **ID**, **User Level**, and **Notes**, there are two new fields.

Loiter Bypass – drop-box; when this point is set, the Zone is in Loiter Bypass, Loiter events will be recorded

Exit Zone – checkbox; when checked, this Zone is an exit zone, the automatically created screen object for an exit zone has more states than the standard zone

For a full explanation of the other tabs on properties dialog, see the Intelli-Site User's Guide section <u>9.3 The Properties Dialog</u>.

4.3.3.1.2 Zone States and Sub-States

A zone node is an I/O point. When a zone is active, the zone point will be high. In addition to reporting that a zone is active. The Accutech panel reports additional information about the activity. It reports when a zone is: **Normal**, **Reset**, **Supervision**, **Loiter**, **Ajar**, **Exit**, **Locked Down** and **Band Removal**. These additional states are mutually exclusive and are listed in the order of precedence and importance. **Normal** is least important. **Band Removal** is most important.



Figure 26 - Zone 1 child nodes

These nodes are also simple I/O points that are high when the zone is in the named state, and low when it is not.

4.3.3.2 Alarms

The alarms for the Accutech are located under the **Alarms** node. There are two (2) alarms: **Panel Status** and **Comm Lost**.



Figure 27 - Accutech panel Alarms child nodes

The **Panel Status** point is high when the panel is offline (assuming the driver is online and the panel is not virtualized). The **Comm Lost** point goes high when communication is lost to the panel. Like the other points of the Accutech panel, these points are I/O point nodes.

4.4 Using the Accutech Nodes

The Accutech nodes can be used in evaluation grids. Each has slightly different selection possibilities.

4.4.1 The Accutech Panel Node

The Accutech panel node can be used in the evaluation grid as well. The **Selection** options are blank, *Virtual*, or *Driver Offline*.

	Point	Selection	Qual.	Oper.	^
•	[989] Wing A Accutech IS Mux	~	~	~	
			~	~	
		Virtual Driver Offline	~	~	
		** Met Applicable **			\sim
	Insert	Delete			

Figure 28 - Evaluation Grid using a Accutech panel node

4.4.2 The Zone Node

The Zone nodes can be used in an evaluation grid. The **Selection** options are the child nodes of the zone, namely, *Reset, Supervision, Loiter, LoiterBypass, Ajar, Exit, LockedDown* and *BandRemoval*.

	Point	Selection	Qual.	Oper.	^
•	[1018] Wing A Accutech IS Mux\Zone 1	Reset ~	~	~	
		Reset	~	~	
		Supervision	~	~	1.
	Insert	LoiterBypass Ajar Exit			
Displa	ay Properties	e LockedDown BandRemoval			

Figure 29 - Evaluation Grid using a Zone node

4.4.3 The Child I/O Point Nodes

Any I/O point node can be used in the evaluation grid just like any other I/O point in the system. The **Selection** field values are *State* or *Shunted*. This means any zone node, any zone child node, and any **Alarms** child node can be used in the evaluation grid.

	Point	Selection	Qual.	Oper.	^
►	[994] Wing A Accutech IS Mux\Zone 1\Sup	State 🗸	~	~	
		** Not Applicable ** 🗸 🗸	~	~	
		** Not Applicable ** 🗸 🗸	~	~	
		** Not Applicable **	24		×
	Insert	Delete			

Figure 30 - Evaluation Grid using an I/O point node

4.5 Automatically Created Screen Objects

The zone nodes and their children can be used as evaluation points for the evaluation grids of screen objects. This allows the user to monitor the state of each zone.

Instead of programming the screen objects by hand, drag and drop the zone nodes onto the screen to automatically create screen objects that are programmed to display the state of the node. These screen objects imitate the LED lights from the old graphics panel days.

Note: When the zone is in the Normal state, the automatically created screen object is invisible because the Frame Style is None. Use the [•]Show Hidden Items tool to reveal all invisible screen objects.

The states of the screen object are different based on the **Exit Zone** property.

4.5.1 Standard Zone Screen Object

The standard zone screen object has a total of three (3) states. These states are programmed to display when the zone is in specific states. It is important to note that there is an understood hierarchy of importance. A state with a greater number will take precedence of a state with a smaller number. The states of the screen object have been programmed to display the highest priority state at all times. For example,

Band Removal>>Supervision>>Invisible

The following sections describe each state.

4.5.1.1 State 0 - Invisible

State 0 is the base state, **Invisible**. It displays when none of the evaluation grids on any other state evaluate to true. This is the normal state.

Edit Scree	n Object	×
Properties	States	
0		>> Insert Add Delete
State Pro	perties	
Name:	Invisible	Lock Object
Display	Properties Label Properties	
	Rash To State: None 🗸	Font Shadow
	Flash Rate (ms); 1000 🜩	H. Just.: Center 🗸
Image:	Stretch: Jabel Object:	V Just · Center ~
Rotate ((deg.): 0	0
	Action Target	^
▶1		
2		
3		Insert
5		Delete
6		
7		~
Mouse	Down Mouse Up Active Inactive Mouse Enter Mouse Leave	
		OK Cancel

Figure 31 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 0

Because the **Frame Style** field on the **Properties** tab is None and there is no image or label specified, this screen object is invisible.

4.5.1.2 State 1 – Supervision

State 1 is named **Supervision**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the zone is in the supervision state, when the **Supervision** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state will display if none of the higher numbered states evaluates to true.

dit Screen Object		×
Properties States		>> Insert Add Delete
State Properties Name: Supervision		Lock Object
Point Image: Image And the second s	Selection Supervision \checkmark	Qual. Oper.
	** Not Applicable ** ~ ~ ** Not Applicable ** ~ ~	
Insert	Delete	
Display Properties Labor Rash To State: None Hash Rate (ms): 1000 \$ Image: [872] WirelessGraylcor Strate (deg.): 0 \$ Effects Pop	el Object:	Font Shadow H. Just.: Center V. Just.: Center : 0
Action	Target	^
2 3 4 5		
6 7 Muse Dave Mouse In Active Inactive Mouse	a Enter Mouse Leave	
Nouse Down Mouse up Active Intactive Mouse		OK Cancel

Figure 32 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 1

4.5.1.3 State 2 – Band Removal

State 2 is named **Band Removal**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the zone is in the band removal state, when the **BandRemoval** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This is the highest numbered state, it is the most important state and will always display when the zone is in the band removal state.

Edit Screen Object		×
Properties States		
		>> Insert Add Delete
State Properties		
Name: Band Removal		Lock Object
Point	Selection	Qual. Oper. ^
▶ [1018] Wing A Accutech IS Mux\Zone 1	BandRemoval 🗸	~ ~
	** Not Applicable ** V	~ ~
	** Not Applicable ** 🗸 🗸	~ ~
Insert	Delete	
Display Properties	el Properties	
Flash To State: Invisible Flash Rate (ms): 1000 🜩		Font Shadow H. Just.: Center
Image: [854] BandRemovalPir Stretch: Labe	el Object:	V. Just.: Center 🗸
Rotate (deg.): 0 🗧 Effects Pop	Up X: 0 🔹 Pop Up Y	0
Action	Target	^
▶1		
2		
3		Insert
5		Delete
6		Doiste
7		•
Mouse Down Mouse Up Active Inactive Mouse	Enter Mouse Leave	
	[OK Cancel

Figure 33 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 2

The **Image** field contains an image file that is displayed when this state displays. This state flashes to the **Invisible** state to draw attention to it.

4.5.2 Exit Zone Screen Object

The exit zone screen object has a total of ten (10) states. These states are programmed to display when the zone is in specific states. It is important to note that there is an understood hierarchy of importance. A state with a greater number will take precedence of a state with a smaller number. The states of the screen object have been programmed to display the highest priority state at all times. For example,

Band Removal>>Supervision>>Normal

The following sections describe each state.

4.5.2.1 State 0 - Normal

State 0 is the base state, **Normal**. It displays when none of the evaluation grids on any other state evaluate to true.

Edit Screen Object	×
Properties States	
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	8 Insert Add <
State Properties	
Name: Normal	Lock Object
Display Properties	
Rash To State: None Rash Rate (ms): 1000 € Image: [869] RGNomGN.png Stretch: Label Object:	Font Shadow H. Just.: Center V. Just.: Center
Rotate (deg.): 0 🗢 Effects PopUp X: 0 🗢 Po	pUp Y: 0
Action Target	^
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Mouse Down Mouse Up Active Inactive Mouse Enter Mouse Leave	Insert Delete
	OK Cancel

Figure 34 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 0

Because the **Frame Style** field on the **Properties** tab is None. The **Image** field contains an image file that is displayed when this state displays.

4.5.2.2 State 1 – Invisible

State 1 is named **Invisible**. Notice the evaluation grid. It is empty. This is used as a "Flash To" state and will never display on its own.

Properties States	6 7	8 >> <	Insert Add
	6 7	8 >>> [</td <td>Insert Add</td>	Insert Add
Out- Description			Delete
State Properties			
Name: Invisible		L	ock Object
Point S	Not Applicable ** Not Applicable ** Not Applicable ** Not Applicable ** Delete	Qual. C V I V V I V V I V V I V V I V V I V V I V V I V	per.
Display Properties Flash To State: None Rash Rate (ms): 1000 \$ Label O	operties	Font H. Just.: Ce V. Just.: Ce	Shadow enter V
Rotate (deg.): PopUp	X: 0 🜩 Popl	Jp Y: 0 €	
Image: Constraint of the second se	ter Mouse Leave		Insert Delete

Figure 35 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 1

4.5.2.3 State 2 – Supervision

State 2 is named **Supervision**. Notice the evaluation grid. When this zone is in supervision, when the **Supervision** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state will display if none of the higher numbered states evaluates to true.

operties	States											
0	1	2	3	4	AJ	5 AR A	6	7	8		»» ««	Insert Add Delete
State Pro Name:	perties Supervis	sion								/	<u> </u>	.ock Object
•	Point [1528] N	lew Accuted	h IS Mux\2	Zone 2		Selectio Supervis ** Not Ap	n ion oplicable oplicable	••	> > >	Qual.		Oper.
Display	Propertie Flas Flas [861] GF (deg.):	es h To State: h Rate (ms): R_Chev_GY_ D	None 1000 🖨 N Stretch Effect	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Labe	I Propertie I Object: Jp X: 0	ss International Internationa	Pop	oUp Y:	Fc H. Ju V. Ju	ont ust.: C ust.: C	Shadow ienter V ienter V
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Action					Target						Insert Delete

Figure 36 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 1

4.5.2.4 State 3 – Loiter

State 3 is named **Loiter**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the zone is in the loiter state, when the **Loiter** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state will display if none of the higher numbered states evaluates to true.

	States										
0	1	2	3	4		56	7	8			Insert
					ĻA	AR AJAR			>	~	Add Delete
itate Pro	perties										
Name:	Loiter										.ock Object
_	Point					Selection			Qual.	(Dper.
•	[1528] Ne	w Accutech	n IS Mux\Z	Zone 2		Loiter		~		~	~
						** Not Applicat	ole **	~		\sim	~
						** Not Applicat	ole **	\sim		\sim	\sim
						** Not Applicat	alo **				v Y
-	-					-					
Display	Properties				Labe	Properties					
	Flash	To State:	None	\sim					Fo	ont	Shadow
	Flash	Rate (ms):	1000 🖨						H. Ju	ust.: C	Center 🗸 🗸
Image:	[865] GR	_Chev_Y_N	o Stretch	:	Labe	Object:			V. Ju	ist.: C	enter 🗸 🗸
	(I		Effect	s	Popl	Jo X: 0	t≑ Po	n l In Y	0		1
Rotate	(deg.): U	•					<u> </u>	pop I.	-	· ·	
Rotate	(deg.): U										
Rotate	(deg.): U					Target				^]
Rotate	(deg.): 0	•				Target					
Rotate ▶ 1 2 3	Action	•				Target					
Rotate	Action					Target					Insert
Rotate	Action					Target					Insert
Rotate ▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6	Action					Target					Insert Delete
Rotate ▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Action					Target					Insert Delete
Rotate ▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Mouse	Action	Touse Up	Active In	active	Mouse	Target Enter Mouse	Leave				Insert Delete

Figure 37 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 2

4.5.2.5 State 4 – Loiter Bypass

State 4 is named **Loiter Bypass**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the zone is in the loiter bypass state, when the **Loiter Bypass** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state will display if none of the higher numbered states evaluates to true.

0	518165										
U	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		~~	Insert
					AJAR	AJAR		F		>>	Add
										<<	Delete
tate Pro	perties								_		
lame:	Loiter Bypas	35									.ock Object
	Point				Sel	ection			Qual.	(Oper. ^
Þ	[1528] New	Accutech	IS Mux\Zo	ine 2	Loite	erBypass		~		~	~
					N	ot Applicable	e **	~		~	~
					N	ot Applicable	e **	~		×	× •
				Insert		Delete					
Dienlav	Properties				ahel Pror	orties					
Dispidy	Flash T	o State:	None		0001110	Jonno 3			E	int	Shadow
			1000								Shadow
	Hash H	ate (ms):		_ L					j H.Ju T	ist.: C	enter V
lmage:	[859] GR_C	hev_GN_	Stretch:		abel Obje	ect:			V. Ju	ist.: C	ienter 🗸
Rotate	(deg.): 0	-	Effects	P	opUp X:	0	Pop	Up Y	0	÷	
					Taro	et				^	1
	Action										
▶ 1	Action										
▶ 1 2	Action										
▶ 1 2 3	Action										Insert
▶ 1 2 3 4	Action										Insert
▶ 1 2 3 4 5	Action										Insert Delete
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6	Action										Insert Delete

Figure 38 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 2

4.5.2.6 State 5 – Ajar Flash To

State 5 is named Ajar Flash To. Notice the evaluation grid. It is empty. This is used as a "Flash To" state and will never display on its own.

Edit Scree	n Object											×
Properties	States											
0	1	2	3	4	AJ	5 AR	6 AJAR	7	8		>> <<	Insert Add
< State Pro	perties							_		>		Delete
Name:	Ajar Flash	То										ock Object
	Point					Sele	ction			Qual.	C	Oper. ^
•						** No	t Applicab t Applicab	le ** le **	~		~	~
						** No	t Applicab	e **	~		~	~
				Insert	t	** No	Delete	La **	~			
Display	Properties				Labe	I Prope	erties					
AJAR	Flash	To State:	None	\sim						Fo	nt	Shadow
	Flash	Rate (ms):	1000 韋							H. Ju	st.: C	enter ~
Image:	[866] GR_	Chev_Y_N	o Stretch		Labe	l Obje	ot:			V. Ju	st.: C	enter 🗸
Rotate (deg.): 0	-	Effect	S	Popl	Jp X:	0	÷	opUp Y	0	*	
	Action					Tame	+				^	1
▶1							-					
2												
3											_	Insert
4					_						_	Delete
6											_	Delete
7												
Mouse	Down Me	ouse Up	Active In	active M	louse	Enter	Mouse	Leave			v	1
										OK		Cancel

Figure 39 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 3

4.5.2.7 State 6 - Ajar

State 5 is named Ajar. Notice the evaluation grid. When the **Ajar** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state will display if none of the higher numbered states evaluates to true.

	States										
0	1	2	3	4	1	5 6	7	8			Insert
					AJ	AR AJAR				<i>"</i>	Add
									>		Delete
tate Prop	erties										
lame:	Ajar									🗌 Lo	ck Object
	Point					Selection			Qual.	Op	oer.
•	[1528] New	Accutech	i IS Mux∖Z	one 2		Ajar		~		~	~
						** Not Applicable	•	~		~	~
						** Not Applicable		~			
				Inser	t	Delete					
Display F	properties –				Labe	Properties					
	Flash T	o State:	Ajar Flast	ı v					Fo	int	Shadow
AJAR	Flash F	Rate (ms):	1000 🜲						H. Ju	ist.: Cer	nter 🗸
Image:	[867] GR_0	hev_Y_N	o Stretch		Labe	Object:			V. Ju	st.: Cer	nter 🗸
Botate (c	tea): 0	4	Effect	2			•		0		
			Encou	5	Popu	pX: U	₽ Pop	oUp Y	U	•	
	Action					Target				_ î	
▶ 1 2											Insert
▶ 1 2 3											moon
▶ 1 2 3 4					_						
▶ 1 2 3 4 5											Delete
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6											Delete
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7											Delete

Figure 40 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 3

4.5.2.8 State 7 – Exit

State 4 is named **Exit**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the **Exit** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state is the highest priority state and will display when the evaluation grid evaluates to true.

	States											
0	1	2	3	4		56		7	8			Insert
											>>	Add
					~						~	Delete
tate Pro	perties									,		
Name:	Exit											.ock Object
												-
	Point					Selection				Qual.	(Oper.
Þ	[1528] [New Accutec	h IS Mux\2	Zone 2		Exit			~		~	~
						** Not Appl	licable *		~		~	~
						** Not Appl	icable *	•	v		N.	, v
				Inser	t	Dele	ete					
Display	Propertie	es			Labe	Properties						
	Flas	sh To State:	Invisible	\sim						Fo	ont	Shadow
\Box	Flas	sh Rate (ms):	1000 🖨							H. Ju	ust.: C	Center v
Image:	[863] G	R Chev R N	lc Stretch		Labe	Object:				V. Ju	ist.: C	enter v
Potato	(deg.):	0 🛋	Effecti					1				ก
notate	(deg.).	•	Ellec	15	Popl	Jp X: 0	÷	Pop	OUp Y:	0	÷	
												-
	Action	1				Target					^	
▶1												
2											_	Insert
4												insett
5												Delete
												00.000
6											_	
6												

Figure 41 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 3

The **Image** field contains an image file that is displayed when this state displays. This state flashes to the **Invisible** state to draw attention to it.

4.5.2.9 State 8 – Locked Down

State 4 is named **Locked Down**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the **Locked Down** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state is the highest priority state and will display when the evaluation grid evaluates to true.

	States										
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8			Insert
					A.1/					>>	Add
					~~~					<<	Delete
tate Pro	perties								-		
lame:	Locked D	own								🗌 Lo	ock Object
	Point				_	Selection			Qual.	0	per.
•	[1528] Ne	w Accutech	n IS Mux∖Z	one 2		LockedDown	la **	~		~	~
						** Not Applicab	le **	~		~	~
						** Not Applicabl	la **	~			
				Insert		Delete					
Display	Properties				Label	Properties					
	Flash	To State:	None	$\sim$					Fo	ont	Shadow
$\cup$	Flash	Rate (ms):	1000 🜲						H. Ju	ist.: Ce	enter v
lmage:	[863] GR_	Chev_R_N	c Stretch:		Label	Object:			V. Ju	st.: Ce	enter v
Rotate	(deg.): 0	<b></b>	Effects	5	D11	- V. 0	<b>•</b>		0		
					Popu	p X: U	- r	opupr	<u> </u>	•	
						-					i
						larget					
N 1	Action										
▶ 1 2	Action										
▶ 1 2 3	Action									_	Insert
▶ 1 2 3 4	Action										Insert
▶ 1 2 3 4 5	Action										Insert Delete
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Action										Insert Delete
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Action										Insert Delete

Figure 42 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 3

#### 4.5.2.10 State 9 – Band Removal

State 4 is named **Band Removal**. Notice the evaluation grid. When the **Band Removal** point for the zone is high, the evaluation grid will return true. This state is the highest priority state and will display when the evaluation grid evaluates to true.

operties Stat	es								
1	2 3	4	5 AJAR	6	7	8	9	>> <<	Insert Add Delete
State Propertie Name: Band	s I Removal						-		<del>:k Objec</del> t
Poin  [1528	it 8] New Accutech	n IS Mux\Zor	ne 2	Selection BandRe ** Not Ap	on moval oplicable ** oplicable **		Qual.	Op ~   ~   ~	er.
			Insert		)elete				
Image: [854] Rotate (deg.)	Prues Plash To State: Plash Rate (ms): BandRemovalP : 0	Invisible 1000 🜩 ir Stretch: Effects	Lab	bel Object:		PopUp	H. Ju V. Ju Y: 0	int ist.: Cen st.: Cen	Shadow ter V ter V
Act	ion			Target				^	
▶ 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 2									Insert Delete

Figure 43 - Sample zone screen object properties dialog: State 3

The **Image** field contains an image file that is displayed when this state displays. This state flashes to the **Invisible** state to draw attention to it.

## 4.6 Panel Control Screen

When a panel is added to the Project, a popup screen is added to the Tree as well. This is the panel control screen that is displayed in **Hardware Management View**. This popup screen can be found by expanding

**Screen Control->Popup Screens**. Here is a node named for the area in which the panel was added. In the example used in this document, the panel was added to the area named **Area**. Therefore, the node that groups these panel control screens is named **Area Popup Screens**. Expanding this node reveals the panel control screen nodes.



Figure 44 - An example Panel Control Screen popup screen node in the Project Node Tree

The node name of the panel control screen popup screen reflects the panel type and not the specific panel. If the project contains 20 Accutech IS panels, there will be 20 Accutech IS Mux nodes in this **Area Popup Screens** group. The panel to which the popup screen is linked is denoted in the **Base Object** field of the popup screen's properties.

🔺 [1051] Area F	Popup Screens\New Accute	ch IS Mux	×
Properties			
Name:	New Accutech IS Mux		ID: 1051
User Level:	All Access	~	
Notes:			
Height: Width: Background: Display/Dismiss	353 T X Pos 651 V Po Base O Actions	ition: 0 🚖 sition: 0 🚔 bject: [989] Wing A A	ccutech IS Mux
Actio	n	Target	^
▶ 1 2 3 4 5			Delete
		[	OK Cancel

Figure 45 - Panel Control Screen node properties dialog

To display this popup screen in **Live View**, an action grid must be programmed to do so. Use either the **PopUp** or **PopUpDialog** action with the popup screen node as the target. The **PopUpDialog** action allows the user to move the dialog around the screen and to dismiss it. **PopUp** does not.

To dismiss the popup screen, an action grid must be programmed to do so using the action **Popoff**.

# *Note: Drag and drop of the popup screen will create a button that pops up the popup screen. This gives you a starting point.*

# **Revision History**

- 2016-12-16 Initial Creation
- 2017-03-06 Accutech driver was updated to include additional zone states, Loiter Bypass point, Band Removal and Exit Zone Changes to Section 4.3, 4.4, and 4.5
- 2017-06-27 Product renamed from Intelli-Site 4 to Intelli-Site with new icons and cover page
- 2018-04-23 Change cover page